1994

Joyce Knowlden v. Grant R. Knowlden : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This is an appeal from a final Judgment and Order made and entered by the Third Judicial District Court for the County of Tooele, State of Utah, the Honorable William A. Thorne, Judge, presiding.

The Judgment being a final and therefore appealable Order, this Court has jurisdiction for the purpose of this appeal pursuant to § 78-2a 3(2)(i) of the Judicial Code, Utah Code Ann. (1953 as amended).

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Defendant/Appellant, (hereinafter defendant) charges:

1. that the Court abused its discretion in its division of the marital properties; and

a. it failed to properly credit defendant for his identifiable pre-marital contributions to the marital properties;

b. it erroneously imputed income to defendant resulting in an inequitable alimony obligation.

THE STANDARD OF REVIEW

1. Regarding findings of fact, the reviewing court views the evidence and all reasonable inferences therefrom, in a light most supportive of the trial court's findings and will alter the trial court's findings only if clearly erroneous. Baker v. Baker 226 Ut. Adv. Rep. 27, 28. (Utah, 1993) To prevail on appeal, defendant must marshal the evidence that supports the findings and then demonstrate that, despite such evidence, the findings are "so lacking in support as to be against the clear weight of the evidence and, therefore, clearly erroneous." Baker at 28, quoting Crouse v. Crouse 817 P.2d 836, 838 (Ut. App. 1991) (citations omitted); accord Watson, 837 P.2d at 6.

2. The reviewing court will alter the trial court's property division "only if there was a misunderstanding or misapplication of the law resulting in a substantial and prejudicial error, the evidence clearly preponderated against the findings, or such a

serious inequity has resulted as to manifest a clear abuse of discretion." Baker at 28 (quoting Watson v. Watson 837 P.2d 1, 5 (Ut. App. 1992)).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter was tried to the Court, pursuant to Plaintiff's Petition for Divorce, on January 20, 1994. Plaintiff was granted a divorce. The marital property was divided pursuant to stipulation and evidence. Judgment was entered on the Divorce action on March 8, 1994.

Defendant moved for a new trial, or in the alternative, for an Amendment to the Decree of Divorce pursuant to Rule 59, Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, which was denied on May 3, 1994. The final order was signed by the Court on May 17, 1994.

New counsel for defendant/appellant obtained an extension of time from the Court within which to file a Notice of Appeal, which was filed on June 23, 1994.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The parties were married in 1978. (T.6) Defendant retired seven years after the marriage, after having worked at Kennecott for twenty-five years. (T. 223) Plaintiff was a homemaker. Plaintiff filed for Divorce in 1993. The issues at trial centered around the value and division of the marital estate.

In 1956, defendant purchased a 19.6 acre lot in Grantsville, Utah, for \$2,500.00. The parties final marital residence would

eventually be built on part of that lot, (hereinafter, the Grantsville property). (T. 225) Defendant also contributed \$18,000.00 towards the initial construction of the residence, mostly from funds he had accumulated before the marriage. (T. 226)

At trial, defendant presented evidence that the property had a current market value of \$86,000.00 That figure included a value for the lot of \$9,500.00. (T. 147) The property was awarded to defendant.

Defendant had purchased property in Kearns, Utah (hereinafter, the Kearns property) five years before the marriage. He paid the down payment. This property was initially used as the marital residence. It was put into joint tenancy after the marriage. It later provided rental income during the marriage. (T. 229) Plaintiff was awarded this property.

Defendant had purchased property on Louise Avenue in Salt Lake City (hereinafter, the Louise property) two years before the marriage. Defendant made a \$4,000.00 down payment and paid the monthly mortgage payments. (T. 232) This property provided rental income during the marriage. Plaintiff's name was never put on the title. Plaintiff was awarded this property. Defendant was responsible to satisfy the second mortgage on it, which was taken to improve the Grantsville property.

In 1993, defendant purchased a quilting machine with proceeds received from the sale of property that he owned prior to the marriage. (T. 233) Plaintiff had been quilting on the machine to earn extra money. (T. 135) Defendant was awarded the machine, then

the Court imputed the average monthly income that plaintiff had been deriving from use of the machine to defendant's income. It found defendant's income to be \$1,500.00 per month, which included \$300.00 per month as income from the quilting machine. The Court awarded plaintiff \$400.00 per month in permanent alimony. (T. 295)

The Court valued the marital estate at \$162,107.00, and based its division on that figure. (T. 291)

The Court ordered defendant to pay certain debts. Plaintiff was awarded the liquid assets. (T. 292-6)

The trial court had before it an amended complaint for divorce. Plaintiff's initial complaint had been assigned to Judge Pat Brian, who had also made findings and entered certain orders regarding the matter.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Defendant argues the Court did not divide the marital estate equitably. Specifically, defendant argues he should have received credit for the appreciated value of the land that was associated with the Grantsville property. Defendant was equitably entitled to at least an \$8,000.00 credit against the value of that property. Defendant argues he also should have received credit for the \$18,000.00 cash contribution that he made toward the initial construction of the residence on the property.

Next, defendant argues he should have been awarded the Louise property, as plaintiff's contributions to that property were fairly reflected in her share of the equity. Alternatively, defendant

argues he should have, at the very least, received credit for his pre-marital down payment on that property.

Defendant argues the Court erroneously ordered him to pay debts associated with the Kearns property that the court had previously ordered plaintiff to pay, pursuant to a pre-trial order.

Defendant argues the Marcus Knowlden note and the quilting machine should have both been either included or excluded from the estate.

Defendant also argues the Court erroneously imputed \$300.00 per month in income to his monthly total, based on his being awarded the quilting machine. The Court then used this inflated figure to determine defendant's alimony obligation.

ARGUMENT

DIVISION OF THE MARITAL ESTATE

Defendant contends the court abused its discretion in dividing up the marital estate and committed clear error in determining the value of the estate. It failed to properly credit defendant for his identifiable pre-marital contributions to the estate.

In dividing up the marital estate, the over-riding consideration is that the division be equitable, that the property be fairly divided between the parties given their contributions during the marriage, and the circumstances at the time of the divorce. Newmeyer v. Newmeyer 745 P.2d 1276 (Utah 1987).

In a divorce proceeding, there is no fixed formula from which to determine the division of property. Baker v. Baker 226 Ut. Adv.

Rep. 27, 28 (Utah App. 1993).

The trial court sought to equalize the division of the estate. The court found the marital estate, less debts, to be valued at \$162,107.00. (T. 291) (Findings of Fact, para. 15) This included a finding that the Grantsville property had a current fair market value of \$86,000.00. (T. 291) (Findings of Fact, para. 6, 15) The appraiser, Mr. Alsop, testified that the \$86,000.00 figure included a determination that the value of the lot was \$9,500.00. (T. 147) Defendant contends that at least eight thousand dollars (\$8,000.00) of the \$9,500.00 value of the lot should have been deducted from the value of the property because he had originally purchased the lot long before the marriage and was entitled to credit for any appreciation of the value of the lot. The lot was originally more than nineteen (19.6) unimproved acres. (T. 225) The marital residence and appurtenance was built on three acres. (See Order on Plaintiff's Motion, dated January 5, 1994, where Judge Brian recognized the three acre plot (Addendum A) (para. 3, 4, 5, 7)) A correct calculation would have credited defendant with the appreciated value of at least 16 unimproved acres. The value of the residence and appurtenance and three acres should have been used as the value of the marital property, not the entire lot. Mr. Alsop placed the current value of each acre at about \$500.00. (T. 149) The value of the marital property land was \$1,500.00.

Utah case law recognized that identifiable pre-marital assets are generally exempt from the marital estate. See Preston v. Preston 646 P.2d 705 (Utah 1982). (Each party should receive pre-

marital assets). In Burke v. Burke 733 P.2d 133, 135 (Utah 1987), the court noted that pre-marital property, gifts, and inheritance, may be viewed as separate property and in appropriate circumstances, equity will require that each party retain the separate property brought into the marriage (citing Preston at 706). The court listed some of the factors generally considered: the amount and kind of property; whether the property was acquired before or during the marriage; and the source of the property. Of particular concern is whether one spouse has made any contribution toward the growth of the separate assets of the other spouse (citing Dubois v. Dubois 504 P.2d 1381 (Utah 1991), and whether the assets were accumulated or enhanced by the joint efforts of the parties. In Burke, the court awarded one party his pre-marital property and the other party did not get credit for the appreciation of that property.

In Mortensen v. Mortensen 760 P.2d 304, 308 (Utah 1988), it was noted that according to the Supreme Court, trial courts should generally award property acquired by one spouse by gift and inheritance during the marriage, or property acquired in exchange thereof, to that spouse, together with any appreciation of enhancement of its value, unless: 1) the other spouse has by his or her efforts or experience contributed to the enhancement, maintenance, or projection of that property, thereby acquiring an equitable interest in it, or 2) the property has been consumed or its identity lost through commingling or exchange or where the acquiring spouse has made a gift or an interest therein to the

other spouse. (Also see Willey v. Willey 866 P.2d at 555 (Ut. App. 1993); Bingham v. Bingham 872 P.2d 1065, 1069 (Ut. App. 1994).

As noted in Newmeyer, the appropriate treatment of property brought into a marriage by one party may vary from case to case. In Newmeyer, plaintiff's inheritance, acquired during the marriage, was properly excluded from valuation of the marital estate (citing Jespersion v. Jespersen 610 P.2d 326, 328 (Utah 1980) (not unreasonable for trial court to withdraw from marital property the equivalent of assets brought into marriage). 745 P.2d at 1278 (Utah 1987)).

Here, the court found that defendant paid \$2,500.00 for the lot in 1956. The lot was, and stayed in defendant's name and remained unimproved until the construction on the residence began in 1981. (Findings, para. 6) The court adopted defendant's evidence regarding the \$86,000.00 fair market value of the property, which necessarily included the \$9,500.00 value for all the land. Defendant asked for the full credit but equity would dictate that defendant be credited with at least the appreciated value of the portion of the lot that remained unimproved. There was no evidence presented that plaintiff contributed anything to the unimproved land. She did nothing to enhance its value. The unimproved land is separable and identifiable and should not merge into the marital estate. The house and the three acre plot on which it sits is the actual marital property in which plaintiff had an interest. Judge Brian had already recognized that. (Addendum A, para. 3, 4, 5, 7)

Defendant submits the court should have credited him with a pre-marital asset worth at least \$8,000.00 to reflect the appreciation of his original pre-marital investment in the lot. The court erred in not deducting that, or any, amount from the \$86,000.00 figure. It should have calculated the property to be valued at no more than \$78,000.00.

Plaintiff suggested the proposed valuation of the property be set at \$86,813.00 (T. 185), based on a cost approach analysis that had the property worth over \$96,000.00. (T. 270) Plaintiff suggested crediting defendant with \$9,500.00 for the lot value and deducting it from the higher figure. (T. 185) The court rejected plaintiff's cost approach analysis and accepted defendant's fair market value figure, but then failed to credit defendant for the value of the unimproved lot.

Regarding the applicable factors listed in Burke (supra) and Mortensen, (supra), with respect to the kind of asset in question, defendant bought an unimproved lot long before the marriage that appreciated through no effort or contribution by the plaintiff. The plot of land actually used for the house and yard has its own separable value of \$1,500.00. That's the only "land" plaintiff had any interest in.

Defendant submits it is inequitable and abuse of discretion for the court to have failed to credit him fully for his identifiable pre-marital asset, only a small portion of which was commingled with the house and yard to make up the marital residence. There was no evidence from which to conclude that the

entire lot had merged into the marital property. A value had been placed on the small, separable part that was commingled. Judge Brian's order, by implication, means that defendant was not restricted from the 16 acres outside the marital property. This means the court did not consider that acreage part of the marital estate as far as plaintiff's interests were concerned.

The trial court wrongfully found that all the defendant's pre-marital interest and investments were commingled with plaintiff's "sweat equity." (T. 291- 2) The court only alluded to giving defendant "some credit for original down payments and other things on property," (T. 293) (Findings, para. 17), but made no other specific finding on the matter. Defendant contends the court erred in those findings due to insufficient evidence. The court should have identified, separated, and credited defendant for his appreciated pre-marital asset, the nature of which (unimproved lot) has remained the same throughout.

Defendant contends that the court erred in finding that his other identifiable pre-marital monetary contributions that were used to initiate construction of the marital residence had commingled with plaintiff's sweat equity, thus losing its separate identity. (T. 291-2) (Findings, para. 6)

In 1981, defendant withdrew \$7,000.00 from his sick leave and vacation benefits, the vast majority of which he had accumulated prior to the marriage, and spent it on the initial construction of the marital residence. (T. 83; 228) The parties had been married three years when work on the house began. In 1985, when he

retired, defendant withdrew \$12,000.00 of the \$15,000.00 he was entitled to from his retirement fund and spent it on the construction. (T. 84) Defendant asked the court for credit of those pre-marital funds against the value of the property.

The court heard testimony that the parties worked together to build the house. Both parties contributed time and labor. (T. 11; 81-3) Defendant submits that equity would dictate that the court do what was done in Newmeyer (supra). In Newmeyer (supra) the court credited the plaintiff with the identifiable amounts of money she had put into the marital home, then awarded the defendant one-half of the equity of the home. 745 P.2d at 1279. Since both parties contributed time and effort, both should be entitled to half the equity of the home. But since defendant also contributed substantial sums of money, the majority of which were pre-marital in nature, separate and identifiable, he was entitled to credit for those monetary contributions, apart from the value that the parties' combined efforts entitled them to share.

The court erred in finding that defendant's monetary contributions, as well as his labor and efforts, had merged with plaintiff's labor and efforts. The court wrongly found that defendant's money had lost its separate identity. If defendant had not put those funds toward the house, plaintiff would not otherwise have been entitled to benefit from all that money. She may have been entitled to half of that which was accumulated by defendant during the marriage, less than one-third. The vast majority of those funds were clearly pre-marital in origin. The court, based

on erroneous findings, abused its discretion in failing to credit defendant for his separate pre-marital monetary contribution.

The court abused its discretion in awarding the Louise property to the plaintiff. Alternatively, the court abused its discretion in failing to give defendant full credit for his identifiable pre-marital monetary contributions to that property. This failing caused the court to err in the valuation of the property and the estate.

Defendant purchased the property two years prior to the marriage (T.232); (Findings, para 13). He made a \$4,000.00 down payment and two years of mortgage payments of \$129.00 per month.

The property remained in defendant's name and was a source of rental income. (T. 30, 74, 232-3) (Findings, para. 13). In 1991, a second mortgage was taken against it to finance improvements on the Grantsville property. (T. 233)

Plaintiff testified she thought the equity in the property prior to the second mortgage being taken against it was \$7,000.00 - \$8,000.00. (T. 28)

Defendant testified the property was basically self-sufficient, that no other marital monies or resources were expended in its upkeep, including the two mortgage obligations; and that any expenditures incurred were more than set off by the profit realized from it, and that it was currently realizing no profit. (T. 74; 232-3) Plaintiff did not dispute that evidence. (T. 197,8) Plaintiff testified that they'd repainted the house, installed some new windows, used carpeting, and new kitchen cabinets. (T. 169)

Plaintiff did not testify to expending marital funds to do this. In fact, plaintiff corroborated the defendant by saying the property had produced income before the second mortgage. After that, it broke even. (T.197) There was insufficient evidence to support the findings that marital money was ever used to pay the mortgage or improve the premises. Nevertheless, the court so found. (Findings para. 13) The reasonable conclusion from that evidence would be that the rental income paid the mortgage and was used to purchase materials to improve the premises. Defendant testified the rent produced \$200.00 per month in income before the second mortgage (T. 74) While it is arguable that the rental income merged with other marital funds, this situation is still distinguishable. Sharing in the proceeds from a property is different than sharing the ownership and title to that property. Simply because plaintiff shared in the rental income does not necessarily entitle her to an ownership interest in the source of that income. The court erred in its findings, which were based on insufficient evidence.

Defendant made no gift of this property to plaintiff like he did with the Kearns property. The trial court found defendant's gift of joint tenancy to plaintiff on the Kearns property an important factor. (Findings, para. 12) This property was in a different posture. This property cost plaintiff nothing. It cost the marriage nothing. It was never a marital residence. Plaintiff's contributions to it would have been fairly reflected by her receipt of half the equity. (See Newmeyer supra) Defendant

intended to keep this property in the family. He was renting it to his son and his family for minimal rent because the family's wages were so meager. (T. 252) Under these circumstances, equity dictates that defendant should have been awarded the property. Plaintiff deserved a one-half interest in the equity, which by her own accounting was \$4,000.00. The court abused its discretion in awarding this property to plaintiff. Its findings were not supported by the evidence.

Alternatively, if awarding the property to plaintiff was equitable, then the court abused its discretion in not crediting defendant for his identifiable pre-marital monetary contribution to the property. Equity should dictate that, since no separate marital funds were used to maintain the property, and since both parties enjoyed any income from it and both contributed "sweat equity" through time and effort toward it, defendant's additional contribution of \$7,000.00 (\$4,000.00 down payment and \$3,000.00 in payments) of his pre-marital monies should have first been deducted from the value of the property. Because defendant lost the property, and the property continues to increase in value and generate income for plaintiff, equity should require that defendant at least get his pre-marital money back. Those funds are separable and identifiable. (Newmeyer, supra) The court erred in finding those funds just blended into the marital estate. (Findings, para. 13) No separate marital funds went into that property. The findings were not supported by the evidence.

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