1994

Joyce Knowlden v. Grant R. Knowlden : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court's property division in the instant case is equitable and fair. There was no misunderstanding or misapplication of the law; neither was there a clear abuse of the court's discretion. Given the facts and circumstances of this case, including the contribution of Wife to the enhancement and augmentation of the properties in question and, given the age of Wife and prospects for future income or employment, the characterization of the marital estate and division thereof was just. Wife contributed extensively to the maintenance and improvements of the properties and their value was enhanced due to the efforts of both Husband and Wife. Further, there was

substantial co-mingling and any pre-marital monies were unidentifiable given the co-mingling.

The trial court's rulings and findings are adequate and the award of alimony is fair and equitable and not an abuse of discretion on the part of the trial court. Wife's sole sources of income are based on the trial court's property division and alimony award and are essential to maintain Wife's ability to provide for herself. The court's imputation of \$300.00 of income to Husband was appropriate and supported by the testimony of both Wife and Husband. The alimony award is equitable and should be upheld.

Wife should be awarded her attorney's fees and costs on appeal. Given the clear weight of the evidence preponderating in favor of Wife, and given the needs of Wife and abilities of Husband, it is fair and equitable that this Court award Wife her attorney's fees and costs on appeal.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN THE DISTRIBUTION AND CHARACTER OF THE MARITAL ESTATE.

The trial court valued the marital estate at approximately \$162,107.00 and outlined assets as follows:

<u>PROPERTY/ASSET</u>	<u>VALUE</u>
Grantsville property	\$86,000.00
Kearns property	\$42,000.00
Louise property	\$30,000.00
Chevrolet Celebrity	\$1,325.00
Ford truck	\$800.00

Ford mustang	\$200.00
Oldsmobile Firenza	\$975.00
Chevrolet Citation	\$100.00
Chevrolet Cavalier	\$100.00
Marcus Knowlden note receivable	\$7,576.00
Farm equipment	\$1,000.00
Liquid accounts at Key Bank Account, Zions, Garfield Credit Union, Utah Credit Union and the debt from Ms. Eyre	\$1,224.00
Power Tools and tools	\$3,500.00

(Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, ¶15, Index 248.)

Husband has challenged the inclusion of the Marcus Knowlden note receivable as a marital asset. However, the argument that the note should be excluded from the estate is wholly contrary to the evidence adduced at trial and by Husband. Husband testified that in 1978 he assigned a \$10,000.00 promissory note to Wife. (Tr., p.243, ll. 16-18.) The money from that note was paid during the marriage and continued to be paid, at the date of trial, at the rate of \$120.00 per month. (Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, ¶19, Index 246.) Further, Husband testified that Wife should keep that note. (Tr., pp. 247-248, l. 25 and ll. 1-7.) It was clearly transferred into the name of Wife, and appropriately included as a marital asset for ultimate distribution between both parties.

As part of the equalization of the division of the estate, the court ordered Husband to pay a substantial portion of the marital debt. The court found that, in addition to the mortgage debt on

the "Louise" property, the debts that existed were as contained on Wife's Exhibit 8 and were listed as follows:

Levitz	\$ 546.00
Bank One	437.00
Property taxes (Kearns)	297.00
Fire insurance (Kearns)	179.00
Utah State taxes	103.00
Debt to Shelly Eyre	113.00
Total	\$1,693.00

The sum was offset against the marital estate and in the equalization of the same. (Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, ¶16, Index 247.) In analyzing the distribution of the assets and debts, the court was specific and assigned specific values to each. In ¶¶15, 16 and 17 of the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law (Index 247), the properties and debts were distributed as follows:

<u>PROPERTY/ASSET/(DEBT)</u>	<u>HUSBAND</u>	<u>WIFE</u>
Grantsville property	\$86,000.00	
Kearns property		42,000.00
Louise property *		26,914.00
Chevrolet Celebrity	1,325.00	
Ford truck	800.00	
Ford mustang	200.00	
Oldsmobile Firenza		975.00
Chevrolet Citation		100.00
Chevrolet Cavalier		100.00
Marcus Knowlden note receivable		7,576.00
Farm equipment	1,000.00	
Liquid accounts at Key Bank Account, Zions, Garfield Credit Union, Utah Credit Union and the debt owed by Ms. Eyre		1,224.00
Power Tools and tools	3,500.00	
Levitz	(546.00)	

Bank One	(437.00)
Property taxes (Kearns)	(297.00)
Fire insurance (Kearns)	(179.00)
Utah State taxes	(103.00)
Debt to Shelly Eyre	(113.00)
Second mortgage (Louise)	(8,245.00)

TOTALS	\$ 82,905.00	\$ 78,889.00
---------------	---------------------	---------------------

(one-half of estate equals \$81,000.00)

*Louise property, \$30,000.00, less first mortgage of \$3,086.00 equals net 26,914.00.

(Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, ¶¶15, 16 & 17, Index 247).

Therefore, while striving to equalize the marital estate, the Husband, in receiving the Grantsville property and other property assigned to him and paying the debts assigned, received more than one-half of the marital estate. As indicated above, the properties awarded to him, totaled \$82,887.00. Husband received over \$4,000.00 more of the marital estate than did Wife. His payment of the debts, including the debts associated with the Kearns property, which included taxes and insurance, was not inconsistent, particularly given the temporary nature of the Order on Order to Show Cause, which was entered by Judge Brian prior to the trial. The temporary order did not prohibit the court from adjusting the assets and debts to equalize the marital estate. Further, there is nothing in the record that indicates any objection or challenge on the part of Husband or his counsel at trial to wife's inclusion of

the insurance and property tax debts as marital debts. It was not until the motion for retrial that the issue was raised by Husband, through counsel. (Tr., p.308, ll. 5-13.) However, given the fact that those two debts total \$282.00 and Husband received \$4,000.00 more of the marital estate, it is certainly within the equitable discretionary powers of the court to make that distribution. See Dunn v. Dunn, 802 P.2d 1234 (Utah App. 1990), Burke v. Burke, 733 P.2d 133 (Utah 1987).

The Utah Supreme Court has held that "[i]n dividing the marital estate, the trial court may make such orders concerning property distribution and alimony as are equitable." Newmeyer v. Newmeyer, 745 P.2d 1276, 1277 (Utah 1987) (citing Utah Code Ann. §30-3-5(1) (1984 & Supp. 1987)) (holding that wife's inheritance being awarded as her sole property was proper).

Wife has no means of income other than the property awarded to her and the alimony awarded to her at the time of trial. Therefore, the order that Husband pay the minimal debts, and readjusting of the same subsequent to a temporary order, is appropriate.

Husband has argued that the court's award of the "Grantsville property" to him and the award of the "Louise" and "Kearns" properties to Wife is unfair and inequitable, and that he should

have been given pre-marital credit on two of the properties as follows:

Grantsville property	\$9,500.00
(down payment of \$2,500.00, increasing in value to 9,500.00 at the date of appraisal)	
Sick leave and vacation benefits	7,000.00
Kennecott retirement benefits	<u>12,000.00</u>
Subtotal	\$28,500.00
"Louise property"	
down payment	\$4,000.00
two years' mortgage payments	<u>3,000.00</u>
Subtotal	\$7,000.00
Total	\$35,500.00

It is appropriate to analyze each of those alleged pre-marital monies or assets separately, but subsequent to an analysis of the case law relating to pre-marital properties.

In the case of Newmeyer v. Newmeyer, 745 P.2d 1276 (Utah 1987), the Court stated that "[t]he appropriate treatment of property brought into a marriage by one party may vary from case to case." Id., at 1277. "In appropriate circumstances, one spouse may be awarded property which the other spouse brought in to the marriage. The rationale behind this exception to the general rule is that '[m]arital property 'encompasses all of the assets of every nature possessed by the parties, whenever obtained and from

whatever source derived.'" Watson v. Watson, 837 P.2d 1, 5-6 (Utah Ct. App. 1992) (citing Sorensen v. Sorensen, 769 P.2d 820, 824 (Utah Ct. App. 1989), quoting Gardner v. Gardner, 748 P.2d 1076, 1078 (Utah 1988)) (holding wife's award of husband's pre-marital property was equitable). "[T]he trial court may, in the exercise of its broad discretion, divide the property equitably regardless of its source or time of acquisition." Watson, at 6.

In the case at bar, the trial court exercised its discretion properly in awarding Wife the "Kearns" and "Louise" properties. Any funds or properties that were pre-marital, lost their identity as pre-marital property given the substantial evidence of the contribution made by Wife to each of the properties, which contributions enhanced and augmented their value. Regardless, the Utah Supreme Court has held that pre-marital property may be treated as marital property in appropriate circumstances. In Burke v. Burke, 733 P.2d 133 (Utah 1987) (which held that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in declining to award husband a portion of wife's inheritance), the Court stated:

"Premarital property, gifts, and inheritances may be viewed as separate property, and in appropriate circumstances, equity will require that each party retain the separate property brought to the marriage. However, the rule is not invariable. In fashioning an equitable property division, trial courts need consider all of the pertinent circumstances. The factors generally to be considered are the amount and kind of property to be divided; whether the property was acquired before or during the marriage; the source of the property; the

health of the parties; the parties' standard of living, respective financial conditions, needs, and earning capacity; the duration of the marriage; the children of the marriage, the parties' ages at time of marriage and of divorce; what the parties gave up by the marriage; and the necessary relationship the property division has with the amount of alimony and child support to be awarded. Of particular concern in a case such as this is whether one spouse has made any contribution toward the growth of the separate assets of the other spouse and whether the assets were accumulated or enhanced by the joint efforts of the parties."

Burke, at 135.

It is important to note that the bulk of the assets of the parties are made up of the three real properties, the substantial one of which was awarded to Husband. The most valuable property, the "Grantsville" property, which was unencumbered, was awarded to Husband free and clear. The two substantially lesser properties were those that were awarded to wife. Certainly, this permits Husband to continue enjoying the standard of living that the parties enjoyed during the marriage, as he was being awarded the marital residence. As the quilting machine, which was the sole source of Wife's earned income (Tr., p.157, ll. 1-9), was awarded to Husband, Wife's only source of income was the Marcus Knowlden note, paid at the rate of \$120.00 per month. The court found that with the award of the Louise property to Wife, she would receive another \$325.00 per month rental income, so that she would have a total net income of \$445.00 per month. (Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, ¶19, Index 246.) Once Wife received the

alimony award of \$400.00 ordered by the court, her total income was \$845.00. The alimony is taxable income as well as the rental income from the property. Husband's \$1,200.00 per month income from social security and his Kennecott retirement was net income. Therefore, while not subject to mathematical precision, it would appear that the parties would be in approximately equivalent circumstances, so long as Wife receives the rental income, and, as long as Wife was not required to make a mortgage payment of any substance. The court awarded Wife two properties, both of which are relatively humble properties, but one of which she can live in to avoid a substantial monthly mortgage payment. It is clear, that the award of the properties allowed for an equalization of the standard of livings of the parties.

It is important for this Court to note, as well, the ages of the parties. Both parties are in their sixties. The assets currently in their possession are likely to be the bulk of what they will have at their death. Neither would have a substantial prospect of future income or employment. As stated in Newmeyer, "[t]he overriding consideration is that the ultimate division be equitable - that property be fairly divided between the parties, given their contributions during the marriage and their circumstances at the time of the divorce." Newmeyer, at 1278 (citing Huck v. Huck, 734 P.2d 417, 420 (Utah 1986)).

In a case somewhat similar to the facts of this matter, the Utah Supreme Court held that the trial court's award of one-half of the value of a recreational cabin to the wife was equitable, even though the husband had used a substantial amount of proceeds from the sale of pre-marital property to finance the construction of the cabin. "The court found that the cabin was constructed during the marriage by the parties 'working as a family, and drawing on their earnings, the daily funds of all . . .'. Preston v. Preston, 646 P.2d 705, 706 (Utah 1982).

Premarital property is similar to the inherited or gifted property of one spouse. These different types of properties are often treated comparably in divorce actions and are therefore analogous. The trial court's broad discretion applies in these types of cases as well.

The Utah Supreme Court has stated that "[s]ignificantly, no case has been found where this Court has reversed a trial court's disposition of gifts or inherited property received by one party during the marriage. In almost every case, we have emphasized the wide discretion trial courts have in property division and have refrained from laying down any general rules for the disposition of gifts and inherited property." Mortensen v. Mortensen, 760 P.2d 304, 307 (Utah 1988) (holding that the trial court's division of property on a percentage basis was proper).

In Mortensen, the Court outlined Utah law regarding gifts and inheritances as follows:

"We conclude that in Utah, trial courts making 'equitable' property division pursuant to section 30-3-5 should, in accordance with the rule prevailing in most other jurisdictions and with the division made in many of our own cases, generally award property acquire by one spouse by gift and inheritance during the marriage (or property acquired in exchange thereof) to that spouse, together with any appreciation or enhancement of its value, unless (1) the other spouse has by his or her efforts or expense contributed to the enhancement, maintenance, or protection of that property, thereby acquiring an equitable interest in it, (referring to Dubois v. Dubois, 504 P.2d 1380 (Utah 1973) . . . or (2) the property has been consumed or its identity lost through commingling or exchanges or where the acquiring spouse has made a gift of an interest therein to the other spouse (referring to Jespersion v. Jespersen, 610 P.2d 326 (Utah 1980))."

Mortensen at 308.

As set forth in the facts of the case. Wife, in the case at bar, made substantial contributions to the preservation and acquisition of the real properties in question. Further, the monies that were pre-marital were not readily separable or distinguishable as pre-marital and they were commingled with that portion that was clearly marital.

In light of the foregoing, the Court must analyze the individual alleged pre-marital contributions for which Husband is asking on offset. The Grantsville property was purchased with a \$2,500.00 down-payment by Husband. (Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, ¶6, Index 253.) However, the land remained

completely undeveloped until the parties commenced building on the property. (Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, ¶6, Index 253.) An appraisal was performed on the property prior to trial in order to evaluate the marital estate. As part of the appraisal, Husband attempted to break out the separate valuation of the land in that appraisal, which, using the cost approach as argued by Husband's counsel, valued that land at \$9,500.00. However, the land is not separate from the home and out-buildings that have been constructed with the "sweat equity" of both Husband and Wife. The appraised value of the property of \$86,000.00 was the "market" valuation, which includes both the land and the structures on the land. (Tr., p.150, ll. 7-13.)

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